**RECEIVED**

**Apr 02 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William C. McMaster, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2024-CP-23-0246  
APPELLANT CASE NUMBER: 2025-001598

---

Charlotte Beverly Derrick, .....Appellant,

v.

Bon Secours St. Francis Health System,  
Inc. d/b/a St. Francis Downtown, and  
St. Francis Hospital, Inc. d/b/a St.  
Francis Downtown, .....Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

QUERY SAUTTER & URICCHIO, LLC

O. Grady Query, Esquire (SC Bar 4610)  
[gquery@qlawsc.com](mailto:gquery@qlawsc.com)  
Michael W. Sautter, Esquire (SC Bar 4944)

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT-RESPONDENTS' MOTION TO DISMISS BY INCORRECTLY INTERPRETING PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S CLAIMS AS SOUNDING IN MEDICAL MALPRACTICE AND REQUIRING COMPLIANCE WITH S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-79-125.**
2. **THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S PREMISES LIABILITY AND NEGLIGENCE CLAIMS WHERE RESPONDENTS FAILED TO PROVIDE A SAFE MEANS OF EGRESS FOR INVITEES.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 25, 2024, Appellant filed a summons and complaint against Respondents for personal injury claims under the theory of general negligence and premise liability against Bon Secours St. Francis Health System Inc. d/b/a St. Francis Downtown, and St. Francis Hospital Inc. d/b/a St. Francis Downtown, after she suffered severe injuries from a fall that took place on the grounds of St. Francis Hospital. (R.pp. 16-24)

On November 6, 2024, Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss stating the grounds for dismissal were based upon S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-79-125 and 15-36-100. Additionally, the Respondents stated that they were incorrectly identified. The correct names for Respondents are Bon Secours Mercy Health, Inc. (incorrectly identified as “Bon Secours St. Francis Health System, Inc. d/b/a St. Francis Downtown”) and St. Francis Hospital, Inc. (incorrectly identified as St. Francis Hospital, Inc., d/b/a St. Francis Downtown”). (R.pp. 25-26)

On November 12, 2024, Appellant filed an Amended Summons and Amended Complaint against Respondents, correctly identifying the Respondents and adding additional language to the complaint. (R.pp. 27-36)

On February 20, 2025, Appellant filed a Motion to Amend the Amended Summons and Amended Complaint against Respondent. (R.pp. 42-43, Second Amended Complaint R.pp. 44-53)

On May 27, 2025, oral arguments were heard on Appellant's Motion to Amend the Amended Summons and Amended Complaint and Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. Appellant's Motion to Amend was granted via consent of Respondents at Oral Arguments. (See, R.pp. 14-15, and Transcript, R.pp. 91-107)

Respondent sought to Dismiss the 2d Amended Complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)6 SCRPC. (Motion to Dismiss, R.pp. 25-26)

Both parties filed memoranda in support of their positions. The Court noted that all filings were considered in the Form 4 Order. (R.pp. 11-13)

Appellant's Second Amended Complaint contains the following pertinent factual allegations (See, R.pp. 48 – 49):

#### **FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS**

10. St. Francis Downtown Hospital employees did a CT scan of the Plaintiff's breast and found that she had fluid and blood buildup in her breast. They then administered an intravenous broad-spectrum antibiotic and asked the Plaintiff to follow up with them or a Charleston doctor within a week. The Plaintiff was then discharged from being a patient of the hospital and at this point in time the Plaintiff became a normal business invitee. Plaintiff was no longer under a doctor's care or control

11. **When the Plaintiff exited from the hospital, she was not provided a wheelchair, nor assisted in any way by hospital staff. Plaintiff was accompanied by her elderly aunt, Alice Gillespie. Plaintiff and her aunt were merely directed to a side exit which led to the parking area. They were not given a chance or opportunity for a car to**

**be pulled up to this side exit, and the Plaintiff and her aunt had to walk more than 100 yards to their vehicle.**

12. After walking out of the ER exit to which Plaintiff had been directed, the Plaintiff suddenly fell to the ground face down. Alice Gillespie ran back into the hospital to get assistance as the Plaintiff was unable to get up on her own.

13. Three medical staff came to help the Plaintiff and took her blood pressure while she was still on the ground. The staff then put her in a wheelchair and rolled her back into the emergency room. Plaintiff was readmitted to the emergency room.

**16. Amidst the second discharge, Plaintiff was escorted out via wheelchair by hospital staff, and her aunt was able to pull the car up to the exit so Plaintiff could promptly enter it and leave the premises.**

Appellant's first cause of action in the Second Amended Complaint was for Premises Liability as alleged below (See, R.pp. 50- 51):

**FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION**  
(Premises Liability)

25. The Defendants are liable for violating a duty to provide for the safe exit for the Plaintiff, who was a business invitee, by insuring or assisting in her safe egress from their hospital.

26. The Defendants owed the Plaintiff a duty of due care as Plaintiff was an invitee as a recently released patient of the hospital.

27. The Defendants owed the Plaintiff a duty of due care to discover risks and to take safety precautions to warn of or eliminate unreasonable risks within the area of invitation, at the exit of their hospital.

**28. The Defendants failed to provide reasonable access for elderly business invitees by barring the use of the main entrance, normally the drop off/pick up area, for invitees.**

**29. The Defendants breached their duty by not providing for a curbside pickup adjacent to the exit of the hospital even though it is foreseeable that an elderly person such as the Plaintiff and her aunt would routinely need close and easy access to their vehicles upon exiting the hospital.**

**30. The Defendants breached their duty by failing to provide reasonable access and choosing to direct the Plaintiff to use the side exit and require her to walk approximately 100 yards to her car. Insomuch, Defendants violated their duty of reasonable care for an elderly business invitee.**

31. The Defendants breached their duty by not eliminating the risk of harm by ensuring a safe exit via wheelchair or with other assistance while the Plaintiff was likely to be in a weakened state as a result of her examination and treatment.

32. The Defendants' breach of the duty of due care was the proximate cause of the Plaintiff's injury. But for the Defendant's breach, the Plaintiff would not have had to walk to her car from inside the hospital

without a wheelchair or other assistance, resulting in her falling face first and sustaining subsequent injuries to her knees and right hand and wrist. It was foreseeable that, upon exiting the hospital, walking a lengthy distance to her car from inside the hospital after emergency treatment was likely to result in injury to the Plaintiff.

33. As a result of her fall, Plaintiff has experienced excruciating pain, has had to undergo physical therapy and has lost a significant amount of use of her dominant hand.

34. Plaintiff requests an award of damages for pain and suffering, lost wages and other actual and punitive damages against Defendant in an amount to be determined by a jury.

Appellant's second cause of action in the Second Amended Complaint was for ordinary negligence, in not providing Appellant a safe, as alleged below (See, R.pp. 51-52):

**FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION**

(Negligence)

36. The Defendants were negligent by not providing the Plaintiff a wheelchair or other assistance when leaving the hospital and allowing her to exit the hospital curbside more than 100 yards from her automobile accompanied only by her elderly aunt.

37. The Defendants were negligent by not providing for a curbside pickup adjacent to the exit of the hospital even though it is foreseeable that an elderly person such as the Plaintiff and her aunt would routinely need close and easy access to their vehicles upon exiting the hospital.

38. The Defendants owed Plaintiff a duty of care to protect Plaintiff based upon the relationship as a business invitee of the hospital. The design or operation of the emergency room exit and entrance did not allow Plaintiff's aunt to bring the car to the exit.

39. The Defendants acted with reckless disregard for the safety of Plaintiff by breaching said duty by not exercising a heightened standard of due care to discharge a weakened patient under the standard course of care or dealing, here by failing to use a wheelchair or other assistance to escort her out of the hospital.

40. As a direct and proximate result of the negligent, reckless, willful, wanton, careless, and grossly negligent acts and omissions of the Defendants, the Plaintiff sustained long-term injuries to her wrist and hand.

41. Plaintiff is entitled to an award of actual damages for pain and suffering, lost wages and other actual damages and punitive damages against the Defendant in an amount to be determined by a jury.

Appellant's third cause of action in the Second Amended Complaint was for Gross negligence as alleged below (See, R.pp.52-53):

**FOR A THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION**  
(Gross Negligence)

42. Plaintiff realleges all of the preceding paragraphs as if set forth herein verbatim.

43. The Defendants were grossly negligent by significantly departing from the reasonable degree of care to protect the Plaintiff from foreseeable injuries.

44. The Defendants, by and through the acts of their staff or employees, instructed the Plaintiff to walk out of the hospital without assistance, rather than being escorted out via wheelchair to the parking lot rather than allowing her to meet her car at the curb of the entrance of the hospital.

45. The Defendants, by and through the acts of their staff or agents, voluntarily and willingly denied the Plaintiff a reasonably safe exit from the hospital by not ensuring her safe departure by wheelchair or with other reasonable assistance for vehicle access.

46. The Defendants created and allowed an unsafe area for exiting their facility by allowing ambulances not actively offloading or picking up patients to congregate without any plan or order in such a way as to block and prevent the Plaintiff's car from being brought to the entrance or near the entrance of the hospital where it would be possible for her to safely embark or alternatively failing to provide a wheelchair or other assistance for her to traverse the substantial distance to her automobile.

On May 27, 2025, the parties through their counsel appeared before the trial court, who GRANTED Appellant's Motion to Amend Amended Complaint. The trial court heard arguments on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the 2d Amended Complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)6 SCRCF. (Order, R.pp. 14-15 and Transcript, R.pp. 91-107)

On June 16, 2025, the Court issued a Form 4 Order dismissing the case after hearing arguments of the parties and considering the filings in this case. (See, Form 4 Order of June 16, 2025). The Form 4 Order also left the case open to allow Respondent's 15 days to file a formal order with the Court. (R.pp. 11-13)

On July 10, 2025 and July 18, 2025, the Court filed a Formal Order Dismissing the case and Granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. (R.pp. 4 -10)

On July 18, 2025, Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider the Order Dismissing the case, stating that the causes of action were in general negligence and premises liability and not medical malpractice and that the Court incorrectly ruled that S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-79-125 and 15-36-100 applied. (R.pp. 60-84).

On August 1, 2025, the Court filed a Form 4 Order denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider. (R.pp 1-3)

Appellant now appeals to this Honorable Court the June 16, 2025 Form 4 Order and the July 10, 2025 Order Granting the Motion to Dismiss, as well as, the August 1, 2025 Order Denying the Appellant's Motion to Reconsider the July 10, 2025 Order. (Notice of Appeal, R.pp. 108-123)

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When appellate courts review the dismissal of claims for failure to state sufficient facts to establish a cause of action pursuant to 12(b)(6), SCRPC, the court must apply the same standard of review as the trial court. *Sloan Constr. Co. v. Southco Grassing, Inc.*, 377 S.C. 108, 112, 659 S.E.2d 158, 161 (2008). This standard requires the appellate court to determine whether the facts alleged in the complaint, along with the inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, when viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief under any theory of the case. *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601, 602-03 (1995). (emphasis added). If so, dismissal is improper. *Id.*

## ARGUMENTS

### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT APPELLANT IMPROPERLY FILED A MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACTION WHEN APPELLANT BROUGHT AN ACTION UNDER PREMISES LIABILITY, NEGLIGENCE, AND GROSS NEGLIGENCE.

Appellant respectfully submits that she has sufficiently alleged in the 2d Amended Complaint, premises liability claims and negligence causes of action based on the Respondents' failure to act with reasonable care in providing for a safe ingress and egress for business invitees. (R.pp 48-53) Appellant contends compliance with S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-79-125 is not required because Appellant's claims do not involve medical malpractice. The factual predicate in the present case directly mirrors that of *Dawkins v. Union Hospital District*, 408 S.C. 171, 758 S.E.2d 501 (2014), a South Carolina Supreme Court case that establishes that not every injury sustained on the premises of a hospital sounds in Medical Malpractice.

In *Dawkins*, the Plaintiff's Amended Complaint alleged that the grossly negligent, reckless, willful, and wanton conduct of the Defendant Union Hospital District was the proximate cause of the injuries sustained when a patient, Dawkins, fell when she attempted to use a bathroom while unattended in the hospital. *Dawkins v. Wallace Thomson Hospital (aka Union Hospital District)*, 2011 WL 11817872 (S.C.Com.Pl.). In *Dawkins*, the trial court likewise erred in granting the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss.

Upon examination of *Dawkins*, it is evident that the instant matter presents substantially similar factual and legal circumstances. Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration in *Dawkins* more succinctly states,

"Plaintiff is not disputing the diagnosis techniques or professional diagnosis ability of the hospital staff...this case was dismissed before Plaintiffs have had an opportunity to fully engage in discovery... *Plaintiff's theory of the case is simply*

*that Defendant, as a facility which invites sick and infirmed members of the public into its doors for its own benefit, has a duty to ensure that those members of the public are not exposed to a dangerous environment and that proper fall procedures should have been in place and enforced in order to prevent incidents such as the one alleged in Plaintiff's Amended Complaint from occurring.*" (emphasis added). *Dawkins v. Wallace Thomson Hospital (aka Union Hospital District)*, 2012 WL 11113189 (S.C.Com.Pl.).

In its opinion, the Supreme Court specifically emphasizes that at all times medical professionals and facilities have a separate duty to exercise "ordinary and reasonable care" to ensure no unnecessary harm befalls their invitees; a standard not implicated by the medical malpractice statute, S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-79-110, but instead, rooted in ordinary negligence claims. *Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist.*, 408 S.C. 171, 758 S.E.2d 501, 504 (2014). *Dawkins* more succinctly states,

"However, at all times, the medical professional must "exercise ordinary and reasonable care to insure that no unnecessary harm [befalls] the patient." *Papa v. Brunswick Gen. Hosp.*, 132 A.D.2d 601, 517 N.Y.S.2d 762, 763-64 (App. Div. 1987). The statutory definition of medical malpractice found in section 15-79-110(6) does not impact medical providers' ordinary obligation to reasonably care for patients with respect to nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care. Thus, medical providers are still subject to claims sounding in ordinary negligence." *Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist.*, 408 S.C. 171, 178, 758 S.E.2d 501, 504 (2014).

The Court has distinguished that actions involving "nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care" sound in ordinary negligence, *not* medical malpractice. *Id.* (emphasis added). The

distinction lies in the nature of the facts alleged. *Id.* at 176, 504. More specifically, the Supreme Court held that expert testimony is not required in ordinary negligence claims where the jury can determine the relevant facts and legal standards using their common knowledge. *Id.* at 177, 504.

The Court found for the plaintiff in *Dawkins* under claims of ordinary negligence, ruling she did not allege negligently administered medical care, but rather, that her injuries occurred from the Hospital's negligent supervision on the premises. *Id.* at 178-79, 505. (Relying on *Landes v. Women's Christian Ass'n*, 504 N.W.2d 139 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993), finding "claims brought by patient who had just undergone knee surgery and who fell while unattended in the restroom sounded in ordinary negligence because they involved routine, nonmedical care"; and *Kelly v. Bridgeport Health Care Ctr., Inc.*, Cf. No. FBTCV106007389S, 2010 Conn. Super. LEXIS 2178, 2010 WL 3788059, at \*1, 5 (Conn. Super. Ct. Sept. 2, 2010), finding "once the Hospital admitted Appellant, it was on notice that she was in a vulnerable physical state and undertook a duty to reasonably care for her"). *Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist.*, 408 S.C. 171, 758 S.E.2d 501 (2014).

Appellant presented at the emergency room complaining of pain and swelling in her breast. She received a CT scan and IV antibiotics and was released from the emergency room, doctor's care, and formally discharged from the hospital. (R.p, 48, See 2d Amended Complaint p. 4 at para. 10) At that point, she became an ordinary business invitee (R.p.48, para 10) to whom the for-profit facility still owed a duty of reasonable ordinary care. (R.p. 52, para. 38)

Respondents assert that just because a patient is no longer under the supervision of a physician does not have any effect on whether the case is sounded on medical malpractice or not. (R.p. 105 lines 7-14, Transcript p. 15) While medical malpractice claims may not end at discharge, the injuries incurred after discharge must be the direct and proximate result of negligently

administered medical care, and therefore, claims in ordinary negligence may still arise. *Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist.*, 408 S.C. 171, 177-178, 758 S.E.2d 501, 504 (2014).

The trial court in this case determined that because Appellant pled that she was in a weakened state, her injuries stem “as a result of her examination and treatment” and therefore her claim lies in medical malpractice. (R.p. 8, para. 1, Final Order Granting Mot. to Dismiss p. 5). This is contrary to the ruling in *Dawkins* and contrary to the evidence presented.

Nearly identical to the claimant in *Dawkins*, Appellant did not allege that the negligent administration of any medical procedure caused her injuries or even that her weakened state was caused by her examination and treatment. Instead, Appellant alleged that her injuries resulted from Respondents' failure to take proper measures as a business proprietor to ensure Appellant's safe egress from the premises. (R.pp. 50-51, paras. 28, 29, and 30; and 52, at para. 37)

Specifically, Appellant alleged that Respondents breached their duty of routine care by directing her and her elderly aunt to leave by way of a side exit with a long, sloping sidewalk without even providing a wheelchair, thereby failing to eliminate a foreseeable risk of harm. (See R.pps. 48, para 11, and 51, para. 31, 2d Amended Complaint paras. 11 and 31; and R.p. 104, Transcript p. 14, lines. 1–13). Appellant further alleged that Respondents disregarded their duty to exercise reasonable routine care by barring the use of the main entrance by Appellant, which would have offered a safe and accessible pickup area, and by failing to provide a comparable alternative at the temporary side exit. (R. p. 50 at para.28, 2d Amended Complaint)

Respondents themselves acknowledged and do not dispute that Appellant alleged in her complaint “that the defendants were negligent in allowing her to leave without assistance”, “the defendants are liable for violating a duty to provide for a safe exit.... or assisting in her safe egress”,

and that Appellant alleged Respondents breached their duty of care by failing to provide a wheelchair when discharging a weakened patient. (See Transcript, R.p. 97, line 18-p. 98, line 7)

Appellant's claims clearly center on whether Respondents exercised reasonable care in managing their premises. The claims do not involve complex medical procedures requiring expert testimony. Rather, it challenges the reasonableness of directing two elderly women through a side exit with a long, sloping sidewalk, which did not provide safe accessibility to their vehicle. Further, as a hospital serving the public, Respondents had a duty to reasonably anticipate that its invitees might require heightened care during their egress, especially when their temporary exit procedures deviated from their standard business practices. Jurors are fully capable of assessing whether Respondents failed to exercise reasonable ordinary care under these circumstances, especially regarding two elderly women.

Regarding the facts of this case, Appellant's injuries do not arise out of any negligent medical procedure that Respondents performed. Appellant suffered a fractured hand and bilateral knee abrasions. (See, R.p. 49, at paras 14-15, 2d Amended Complaint) The administration of the IV and CT scan was not the direct and proximate cause of these injuries, or Appellant would not have been discharged from the premises. Instead, Appellant's injuries result from falling on the long, sloping sidewalk after her discharge, when Respondents failed to act with ordinary care as business owners.

Contrary to the trial court's determination, the facts and legal issues that were determined in *Dawkins* are nearly identical to those of the case at hand. Accordingly, this Court should apply the precedential authority established in *Dawkins* in its consideration of the premises liability claim and compliance with the medical malpractice provisions of S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-79-110 should not be required.

## II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S PREMISES LIABILITY AND NEGLIGENCE CLAIMS WHERE RESPONDENTS FAILED TO PROVIDE A SAFE MEANS OF EGRESS FOR INVITEES.

In addition to finding that S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-79-110 is not applicable, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court find that the trial court erred in dismissing Appellant's negligence and premises liability claims. "[T]he statutory definition of medical malpractice found in section 15-79-110(6) does not impact medical providers' ordinary obligation to reasonably care for patients with respect to nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care. Thus, medical providers are still subject to claims sounding in ordinary negligence." *Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist.*, 408 S.C. 171, 178, 758 S.E.2d 501, 504 (2014).

Appellant is clearly a business invitee. Appellant's presence on the property directly served the Respondents' commercial purpose and was foreseeable as part of the ordinary operation of their business. Case law has further established that a business proprietor must use due care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition and warn invitees of any condition that might be dangerous to him. *Hughes v. Children's Clinic, P.A.*, 269 S.C. 389, 237 S.E.2d 753 (1977). In *Hughes*, the Court established that a hospital cannot only be found liable for an unreasonably dangerous premises, but also that, as an invitee on the premises, the clinic owed the Plaintiff an active or affirmative duty, which includes refraining from any act that may make the *invitee's* use of the premises dangerous or result in injury to him. *Id.* at 397, 756, (emphasis added). It is not necessary that the precise manner in which the injuries occurred, or where they were sustained, were foreseen or foreseeable. *Id.* at 397, 756-577. It is sufficient that the risk of injury falls within a reasonably anticipated range that exceed ordinary dangers. *Hughes v. Children's Clinic, P.A.*, 269 S.C. 389, 397, 237 S.E.2d 753, 757 (1977).

It was, therefore, a question for the jury whether Respondents had provided a reasonably safe premises for the use of Appellant, as a business invitee. *Hughes v. Children's Clinic, P. A.*,

269 S.C. 389, 397-98, 237 S.E.2d 753, 757 (1977). The trial court erred in dismissing the action prematurely at the 12(b)(6) stage of the proceedings.

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