RECEIVED

Apr 10 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William C. McMaster, III, Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-23-0246 and
Appellate Case No. 2025-001598

Charlotte Beverly Derrick,.....Appellant,

v.

Bon Secours St. Francis Health System, Inc.
d/b/a St. Francis Downtown, and
St. Francis Hospital, Inc. d/b/a St. Francis Downtown,.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

CASSIDY COATES PRICE, P.A.

Fred W. "Trey" Suggs III, SC Bar No. 70222
Lillian K.H. Keeling, SC Bar No. 106490
1052 N. Church Street (29601)
Post Office Box 10529
Greenville, SC 29603

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

ARGUMENT

For medical malpractice actions arising after July 1, 2005, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted reform legislation designed to provide certain protections and safeguards to hospitals and healthcare providers as defined in the statute (hereinafter the “Act”). *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-110, *et seq.* Section 15-79-125 of the Act specifically provides that “prior to filing or initiating a civil action alleging injury or death as a result of medical malpractice, the Plaintiff must file a Notice of Intent to File Suit and, aside from limited exceptions, an affidavit of an expert witness” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125(A). The Act further provides specific requirements for the content of the Notice of Intent to File Suit, requires that the notice be served on the named defendants, and requires that the plaintiff answer standard interrogatories. *Id.* Once the aforementioned has been accomplished, the Act further provides that within 120 days from the service of the Notice of Intent to File Suit, the parties must engage in a mediation conference. *Id.* at 15-79-125(C). It is only after conclusion of the mediation conference that a plaintiff may initiate a lawsuit against a health care provider or institution. *Id.* at -125(E)

The statutes provide that these protections are only extended to a “health care institution” or “healthcare provider” as defined by section 15-79-110(2)¹ and section 15-79-110(3)². Moreover, these requirements apply to cases involving medical malpractice. Section 15-79-110(6) of the Act defines “medical malpractice” as follows:

“Medical malpractice” means doing that which the reasonably prudent healthcare provider or healthcare institution would not do or not doing that which the

¹ A “health care institution” includes a hospital, which is defined by the Act as “a licensed facility with an organized medical staff to maintain and operate organized facilities and services to accommodate two or more nonrelated persons for the diagnosis, treatment, and care of such persons over a period exceeding twenty-four hours and provides medical and surgical care of acute illness, injury, or infirmity and may provide obstetrical care, and I which all diagnoses, treatment, or care are administered by or performed under the direction of persons currently licensed to practice medicine and surgery in the State of South Carolina.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-100(2), (4).

² The definition of a “health care provider” includes a “nurse. . . or any similar category of licensed health care provider” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-100(3).

reasonably prudent healthcare provider or healthcare institution would do in the same or similar circumstances.”

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-110(6).

Here, Respondents as hospital systems meet the definition of healthcare provider/institution, and the allegations are that they either committed acts that a reasonably prudent healthcare provider/institution would not have committed, or failed to do certain acts that a reasonably prudent healthcare provider/institution would have done under the same or similar circumstances.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED RESPONDENTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS AND APPROPRIATELY DETERMINED THAT APPELLANT WAS REQUIRED TO COMPLY WITH S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-79-125 BECAUSE APPELLANT’S CLAIMS WERE SOUND IN MEDICAL MALPRACTICE.

The trial court correctly determined that Appellant’s claim is one of medical malpractice rather than premises liability or ordinary negligence. Accordingly, Appellant was required to comply with the notice of intent and expert affidavit requirement provided for in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125.

“In medical malpractice actions, expert testimony is required to establish both the duty owed to the patient and the breach of that duty, unless the subject matter of the claim falls within a layman’s common knowledge or experience.” Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist., 408 S.C. 171, 176, 758 S.E.2d 501 (2014). It is true that not every injury sustained by a patient in a hospital results from medical malpractice and an ordinary negligence claim can result from a medical provider’s failure “to provide reasonable nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care.” Id. at 177-178. However, in general, “if the patient receives allegedly negligent professional medical care, then expert testimony as to the standard of that type of care is necessary, and the action sounds in medical malpractice.” Id. at 177.

In Dawkins, the Supreme Court of South Carolina noted that differentiating between the two types of claims (medical malpractice and ordinary negligence) “depends heavily on the facts of each individual case.” *Id.* at 176. Thus, courts often consider whether expert testimony is necessary to aid the jury’s determination of fault when distinguishing between medical malpractice and ordinary negligence actions. *Id.* Here, Appellant specifically pled that she was likely in a weakened state *as a result of her examination and treatment*,” and that at least one medical provider “should have provided a wheelchair or other assistance[.]” (Sec. Amended Complaint ¶ 31) (R. p. 51. ¶ 31) (emphasis added).

In other words, Appellant is alleging that a healthcare provider failed to do that which a reasonably prudent healthcare provider would have done, i.e. provide instruction and assistance at discharge after providing medical care and treatment to the patient. Courts have determined that discharge instructions and what kind of fall precautions to administer after treating a patient, if any, is medical care and not a matter of common knowledge. See Chalfant v. Carolinas Dermatology Grp., P.A., 439 S.C. 372, 386, 887 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2023) (finding standard of care and breach thereof for after-hours contact information and post-operative discharge instructions did not lie within the ambit of common knowledge); See also Minnich v. MedExpress Urgent Care, Inc.-W. Virginia, 238 W. Va. 533, 539 796 S.E.2d 642 (2017) (question of whether plaintiff should have been permitted to climb onto the examination table unassisted was one of medical malpractice and not ordinary negligence); See also Bardo v. Liss, 273 Ga. App. 103, 104-105, 614 S.E.2d 101 (2005) (“the degree of physical assistance needed by a patient to prevent a fall in light of the patient’s medical condition required the exercise of expert medical judgment.”). Accordingly, Appellant’s allegations of failure to implement proper fall precautions are that of medical malpractice and expert testimony is required.

Appellant contends that the “factual predicate in the present case directly mirrors that of Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist., 408 S.C. 171, 758 S.E.2d 501 (2014).” Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 9). However, this is incorrect. The plaintiff in Dawkins was waiting in the emergency room area, and at “some point after being admitted but prior to receiving treatment,” the plaintiff attempted to use the restroom and fell, suffering injuries. (Id. at 174). The Dawkins court found that the claim was sound in ordinary negligence, because the “complaint makes clear that she had not begun receiving medical care at the time of her injury[.]” Id. at 178.

Unlike in Dawkins, Appellant received medical treatment in the form of diagnostic scans and IV antibiotics prior to suffering her injury. Moreover, although she attempts to phrase otherwise, Appellant alleges that she fell as a consequence of the medical treatment she received which put her in a weakened state. (Sec. Amend. Complaint, ¶ 8) (R. p. 48, ¶ 8). Through this allegation, Appellant injects the issue of whether the healthcare provider at discharge, armed with the knowledge of Appellant’s medical history, current medical condition, and the impact of treatment, complied with the standard of care when making the professional decision that Appellant was medically stable enough to exit the hospital without further instruction or assistance. Accordingly, the only way to evaluate her theory is to examine the kind of medical treatment she received by a medical provider, and why her discharge protocol was or was not inappropriate given the context of her medical condition and treatment. This analysis calls for expert testimony to assess both “duty” and “causation.” Under Dawkins, the Plaintiff’s action is one of medical malpractice.

Pursuant to clear statutory law, the Appellant was required to file a Notice of Intent accompanied by an expert affidavit. Because she failed to do so, the trial court’s grant of Respondents’ motion to dismiss was appropriate.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED APPELLANT'S PREMISES LIABILITY AND ORDINARY NEGLIGENCE CLAIMS BECAUSE THEY WERE SOUND IN MEDICAL MALPRACTICE.

The trial court correctly dismissed Appellant's claims for premises liability and ordinary negligence, because the claims were actually sound in medical malpractice. This is certainly not a premises liability case. A premises liability action is one in which the owner or occupier of land or property is held liable for violating a duty to protect the plaintiff from *a defect or danger on the premises*. Callender v. Charleston Doughnut Corp., 305 S.C. 123, 406 S.E.2d 361 (1991) (emphasis added); Larimore v. Carolina Power & Light, 340 S.C. 438, 531 S.E.2d 535 (Ct. App. 2000). Appellant does not allege that there was a defect or danger on the premises. She did not trip on a stretcher that was left in the middle of the hallway. She did not slip on a puddle of IV fluid that had been left on the floor for an unreasonable period of time. Instead, she "suddenly fell to the ground." (Sec. Amended Complaint, ¶ 12) (R. p. 48, ¶ 12). Rather than alleging a defect or danger on the premises, she contends that Respondents breached their duty by allegedly failing to provide a safe means of egress for discharged patients.

Appellant makes numerous attempts at pleading around what is a medical negligence case by claiming that Respondents "breached their duty by not providing for a curbside pickup," and "failing to provide reasonable access and choosing to direct the Plaintiff to use the side exit and require her to walk approximately 100 yards to her car." (Sec. Amended Complaint, ¶ 29-30) (R. pp. 51, ¶ 29-30). However, the Second Amended Complaint continues and provides the real reason *why* these alleged methods needed to be deployed—not because of a danger or defect on the premises, but because she was "at risk of harm" due to being "in a weakened state as a result of her examination and treatment." (Sec. Amend. Complaint, ¶ 31) (R. p. 51, ¶ 31). As discussed above, this is simply a different way of phrasing that Respondents breached the standard of care

by not providing reasonable assistance at discharge after providing medical care and treatment to Appellant. That is not a premises liability claim, but instead, a claim for medical negligence.

The Plaintiff addresses several cases in her motion in support of her argument, but each fall short. First, the reliance on Hughes is misplaced. Hughes involved a breakable convex mirror in an office clinic, which constituted an “inherently dangerous condition” on the defendant’s premises, which posed a foreseeable risk of harm to all patients. Hughes v. Children's Clinic, P. A., 269 S.C. 389, 398 (1977). Accordingly, the Hughes court agreed that the defendant clinic should have taken steps to warn its invitees of the inherently dangerous condition. Id. at 400. Here, there is no allegation of an inherently dangerous condition or failure to warn. Instead, Appellant argues that additional assistance at discharge was warranted given her age and impact of the medical treatment she just received. (See generally Sec. Amend. Complaint) (R. pp. 44-53).

Further, Hughes was decided in 1977, which was long before the South Carolina General Assembly adopted reform legislation for medical malpractice actions arising after July 1, 2005. Thus, the plaintiff in Hughes was not required to follow the procedural requirements at issue in the present case. The same is true for Graham, which was decided in 1984. Graham v. Whitaker, 282 S.C. 393, 321 S.E.2d 40 (1984). Although Hughes is cited in the Dawkins opinion and Graham is mentioned in a footnote, Respondent respectfully points out that those plaintiffs were never challenged with a motion to dismiss and believes they would be decided differently if made today.

In sum, the Circuit Court correctly concluded that Appellant’s claims were sound in medical malpractice. Appellant failed to file a Notice of Intent and expert affidavit in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125, and thus, this Court should affirm the Circuit Court’s grant of Respondents’ motion to dismiss.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the trial judge's rulings granting Respondent's motion to dismiss.